COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARNIE L. SIMMONS,

Appellant,

v.

MICROSOFT CORPORATION, A WASHINGTON CORPORATION,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GEORGE O. TAMBLYN, WSBA #15429 Attorney for Marnie L. Simmons, as Appellant Advocates Law Group, PLLC 2448 76th Ave. SE, Suite 100 Mercer Island, WA 98040 Telephone: (206) 236-2769

7016 FEB -1 AM II: 10

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Marnie L. Simmons, a former Microsoft employee, brought an age and race discrimination action against Microsoft for terminating her employment due to, at least in substantial part, her age and race, in violation of the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD), RCW 49.60.180. Microsoft moved for summary judgment, and the trial court granted the motion. In doing so, the trial court failed to properly address the burden placed on the respondent under the burden shifting framework of McDonnell Douglas and misconstrued the evidence presented by Appellant. The evidence presented to the trial court, when viewed in the light most favorable to Ms. Simmons, raises a genuine issue of material fact as to whether age and race were substantial factors in Microsoft's decision to terminate Appellant's employment. The trial court thus erred in granting Microsoft's motion, and this Court should reverse and remand the case for further proceedings to allow a reasonable trier of fact to make the factual determinations in a case where several substantial material issues of fact are undeniably present.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED Assignment of Error

The trial court erred by entering the order granting Microsoft's motion for summary judgment because Microsoft did not meet its burden under the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting framework. Furthermore, because Appellant met its burden of production and produced sufficient evidence of pretext, it established a genuine issue of material fact as to whether age and/or race were substantial factors in Respondent's decision to terminate Appellant, and it was thus error for the trial court to grant Respondent's motion for summary judgment

Issues Presented

A. Whether Microsoft presented clear non-contradictory evidence sufficient to establish that Ms. Simmons' employment was terminated for a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason and thus meet its burden under the *McDonnell Douglas* burden shifting framework?

B. Whether Appellant successfully overcame its burden under the *McDonnell Douglass* burden-shifting framework and prove that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to (i) age as a substantial factor in Microsoft's decision to terminate Ms. Simmons' employment, and (ii) race as a substantial factor in Microsoft's decision to terminate Ms. Simmons' employment?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Posture

On September 8, 2014, Ms. Simmons filed a complaint for unlawful discrimination in violation of RCW 49.60 against her employer, Microsoft ("Respondent"). CP 1. Microsoft moved for summary judgment to dismiss, with prejudice, Ms. Simmons' claims. CP 23. On July 31, 2015, following a brief hearing, the trial court granted Microsoft's motion. Order Granting Def's Mot. Summ. J. Ms. Simmons timely filed a notice of appeal from the order of the trial court. CP 43.

2. Statement of Facts

In February 2013, Appellant Marnie Simmons was unexpectedly terminated after seven years as a full-time employee with Microsoft, during which time she received numerous promotions, positive performance reviews and awards. Ms. Simmons was replaced by a younger, less-experienced employee, Ms. Sara Young. Ms. Simmons is currently 45 years old, and was 43 years old when she was terminated from Microsoft. CP 347, 351. Ms. Simmons identifies as a Hawaiian/Pacific Islander; her mother was born in Hawaii. *Id.* Ms. Simmons was hired by Microsoft on June 3, 2006, as a Business Administrator. CP 347. During the course of her employment, Ms. Simmons completed yearly performance reviews, which included self-evaluation and feedback from her supervisors. Appellant also received feedback during mid-year Check-In reviews, which underscored the quality of her work, work ethic, and "willingness to support others in a selfless

fashion," "very knowledgeable about the admin role and ... really good at performing those tasks." CP 348, 409. During the course of her employment, Ms. Simmons received several promotions and exhibited a pattern of successfully addressing any areas identified by her supervisors as areas needing improvement over the course of several years without incident. Although there were instances of constructive criticism that supervisors are commonly expected to offer to stimulate professional growth of their employees, any patterns of comments or concerns that Petitioner attempted to point out in its briefing and at the summary judgment hearing are manifestly absent in the reviews of Ms. Simmons' performance of her job duties.

In 2011, Appellant applied for a position as Executive Assistant to Bret Arsenault, then Chief Information Security Officer and head of the Information Security Risk Management Group ("ISRM") at Microsoft. CP 349. Ms. Simmons was hired, although Mr. Arsenault's first choice for the position was a contract assistant who had worked for him in the past. *Id.* When this person declined the job offer, Mr. Arsenault offered the position to Ms. Simmons. *Id.* While Ms. Simmons was working with Mr. Arsenault, he made a racially charged comment that implicated her Hawaiian/Pacific Islander heritage in her presence. Ms. Simmons found the comment patently offensive. Specifically, when Mr. Arsenault brought a new employee onto

the team, he announced: "I'm bringing in the real kahuna." CP 303. The other employee that Mr. Arsenault was referencing as the "real kahuna" was also Hawaiian, like Ms. Simmons. Appellant was troubled by the inappropriate nature of the comment because, among other things, it implied that she was somehow not fully Hawaiian, not the real deal, and subpar CP 303-04.

Up until fall of 2011, Mr. Arsenault and Ms. Simmons had a positive, professional business relationship. CP 349-50. However, this began to change when Sara Young, then aged 30, was hired into the ISRM group. CP 350. In November 2011, Ms. Young interviewed for a position with the ISRM team that was managed by Mr. Arsenault. CP 320. Ms. Young was chosen for the position from a pool of four candidates, was the least qualified in terms of skill set and experience, and was the youngest candidate. CP 351.

Ms. Simmons' 2012 Check-In review continued to reflect that she was performing her job duties well. CP 350. Then, just months after giving Ms. Simmons positive feedback and stating that she was "on track" for meeting six out of her seven job commitments on the 2012 Check-In, Mr. Arsenault completed an assessment of Ms. Simmons in her 2012 performance review that represented a sudden and drastic departure from all of Ms. Simmons prior reviews. In particular, Mr. Arsenault alleged

"significant challenges" with Cross Team Collaboration, a category he had specifically identified as one where Ms. Simmons was "on track" during the mid-year check-in. CP 462, 483.

Shocked after receiving the first and only negative performance review in her seven years with Microsoft, Ms. Simmons immediately sought colleague feedback in the form of a Microsoft 360 Feedback ("360 Review")¹ CP 350, 486, and received positive feedback from her colleagues in a majority of categories ranging from "interpersonal awareness" to "communication skills." 351, 493-94. Across all categories, Ms. Simmons received a markedly lower score only from her Direct Manager, Mr. Arsenault. CP 351.

Mr. Arsenault's assessment aside, Appellant continued to receive recognition for job performance at Microsoft. CP 350-35. *See also* CP 533 (receiving a Microsoft "Kudos" award). Nevertheless, on February 11, 2013, Mr. Arsenault chose to terminate Ms. Simmons employment at Microsoft citing "job performance and competency levels [not meeting] minimum performance and expectations for [Appellant's] position." CP

¹ The 360 Review consisted of a report of feedback from Ms. Simmons' colleagues, managers, Mr. Arsenault, and herself. In the "Communication Skills" section, Ms. Simmons' peers gave her a "3.64" rating while other colleagues rated Ms. Simmons performance at "4.04" out of a possible "5." Mr. Arsenault gave Appellant a markedly lower "1.75" rating. In the "Planning, Organizing, and Coordinating" category, Ms. Simmons was rated "4.33" by her peers, "4.50" by others, and again received a markedly lower score of "1.80" from Mr. Arsenault.

352, 540. Mr. Arsenault further cited "ongoing performance issues, coupled with the demands of the business" and "[having] to spend inordinate amounts of time debating with Ms. Simmons about her performance issues and seeking to resolve conflicts between her and others." CP 237. When asked at his deposition, Mr. Arsenault stated that Ms. Simmons was terminated because of a "lack of performance and business impact going beyond the performance review." CP 343.

Ms. Young, then 32 years old, immediately stepped in as Mr. Arsenault's interim assistant and took over Ms. Simmons' role. She was thereafter hired as Mr. Arsenault's full-time Executive Administrator in May 2013. CP 238, 334-35, 338.

Since Ms. Simmons was terminated from employment with Microsoft in February 2013, she has been unable to find permanent employment, despite actively applying for jobs. CP 352. As a result of such unjust treatment and warrantless termination, Ms. Simmons and her family lost significant income. Marnie continues to suffer emotional pain and feels that her ability to obtain employment has been significantly degraded due to an unwarranted discharge where race and age were two substantially motivating factors.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Contract Con

The appellate court "reviews an order granting summary judgment de novo, 'taking all facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Biggers v. City of Bainbridge, 162 Wn.2d 683, 693, 169 P.3d 14 (2007). Summary judgment is only appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). The moving party has the burden of showing that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. Indoor Billboard/Wash., Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc., 162 Wn.2d 59, 70, 170 P.3d 10 (2007). A grant of summary judgment will not be affirmed by the appellate court unless it "determine[s], based on all of the evidence, [that] reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion." Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005). Summary judgment to an employer is "seldom appropriate in the WLAD cases because of the difficulty of proving a discriminatory motivation." Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2nd 439, 445, 334 P.3d (2014).

B. Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment Fails under Washington Employment Discrimination Law

1. Burden-shifting framework

Washington courts have adopted the burden-shifting framework established in *McDonnell Douglas v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817

(1973). Scrivener, 181 Wn.2nd at 445. Under McDonnell Douglas, the plaintiff bears the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of unlawful discrimination. The defendant must then present evidence that the plaintiff was rejected for the position for a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason. If the employer meets its burden of production, the employee must then show that the employer's proffered reason was mere pretext for discrimination. Domingo v. Boeing Emps.' Credit Union, 124 Wn. App. 71, 77, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004). To show pretext, a plaintiff must show that the defendant's articulated reasons (1) had no basis in fact, (2) were not really motivating factors for its decision, (3) were not temporally connected to the adverse employment action, or (4) were not motivating factors in employment decisions for other employees in the same circumstances. Fulton v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 169 Wn. App. 137, 161, 279 P.3d 500 (2012). To meet this burden, the employee is not required to produce evidence beyond that already offered to establish a prima facie case. Sellsted v. Wash. Mut. Sav. Bank, 69 Wn. App. 852, 860, 851 P.2d 716, review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1018, 863 P.2d 1352 (1993), overruled on other grounds by Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995). Circumstantial, indirect, and inferential evidence will suffice to discharge the plaintiff's burden. Id. at 861. An employee must meet her burden of production to create an issue of fact but is not required to resolve

that issue on summary judgment. "For these reasons, summary judgment in favor of employers is often inappropriate in employment discrimination cases." *Id*.

The *McDonnell Douglas* framework "was never intended to be rigid, mechanized, or ritualistic." *Fumco Const. Co. v. Waters*, 438 U.S. 567, 577 (1978). Rather, it was developed to aid the plaintiff in surviving summary judgment, in recognition that discriminatory intent is often difficult to prove. *See Costa v. Desert Palace, Inc.*, 299 F.3d 838, 855 (9th Cir. 2002) (en banc) (Legal proof structure is a tool to assist plaintiffs at the summary judgment stage so that they may reach trial); *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 180, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) ("The shifting burdens of proof set forth in *McDonnell Douglas* are designed to assure that the plaintiff [has] his [or her] day in court despite the unavailability of direct evidence.") (citations omitted).

2. Respondent failed to establish that Appellant's employment was terminated for a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason.

The trial court erred in finding that Microsoft presented evidence sufficient to show that Ms. Simmons' employment was terminated for a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason and thus satisfied its burden of production. To the contrary, Respondent was unable to rebut the

presumption of discrimination raised by a prima facie showing under Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD).

"Employers infrequently announce their bad motives orally or in writing." Hill v. BCTI Income Fund–I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 179, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) (quoting DeLisle v. FMC Corp., 57 Wn.App. 79, 83, 786 P.2d 839 (1990)). Whereas Ms. Simmons established a prima facie case of unlawful discrimination and Microsoft conceded that she had established a prima facie case of unlawful discrimination (cite to hearing transcript), Microsoft failed to provide evidence sufficient to establish that Ms. Simmons employment was terminated for a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason. Specifically, in its motion for summary judgment, Respondent states that Ms. Simmons' performance was terminated due to her poor performance in an apparent attempt to divert the court's attention from the overwhelmingly positive performance evaluations Ms. Simmons has received throughout her tenure at Microsoft. CP 255.

Respondent also overstates the significance of constructive criticism contained in Ms. Simmons' performance evaluations, criticisms that supervisors routinely offer to stimulate employee professional growth, while trying to undermine the significance of numerous positive performance reviews and rewards Ms. Simmons received throughout her

employment with Microsoft. In doing so, instead of meeting its burden of production, Respondent is obfuscating the abrupt nature of Appellant's termination by Bret Arsenault, and attempts to meet its burden of production under the *McDonnell* framework by offering evidence that is wholly inconsistent with the overwhelmingly positive job performance of Appellant, further suggesting that none of the reasons given was the real reason for her termination. At the hearing, the trial court focused almost exclusively on the pretext prong the of *McDonnell Douglas* framework, having all but assumed that Microsoft has successfully met its showing of a legitimate reason for Appellant's termination. Having failed to establish a showing of a legitimate reason for Ms. Simmons' termination, Microsoft thus failed to meet its burden. It was therefore error for the trial court to grant Respondent's motion for summary judgment.

3. Trial court erred in finding that evidence offered by Appellant to establish pretext in regards to race and gender being substantially motivating factors leading to Appellant's termination was insufficient and that reasonable minds could not differ regarding the evidence offered.

In the event the defendant has met its burden of production, the burden shifts back to the plaintiff to provide evidence of pretext. To show pretext, a plaintiff must show that the defendant's articulated reasons (1) had no basis in fact, (2) were not really motivating factors for its decision, (3) were not temporally connected to the adverse employment action, or (4)

were not motivating factors in employment decisions for other employees in the same circumstances. Fulton v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 169 Wn. App. 137, 161, 279 P.3d 500 (2012). Additionally, the Washington State Supreme Court rejected the proposition that employees must prove that discrimination was the "determining factor" (i.e., that but for the discrimination, the employer's decision would have been different). See Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 309–10, 898 P.2d 284 (1995). The trial court inappropriately ruled in Microsoft's favor on the motion for summary judgment because Appellant has offered ample evidence of race and gender as substantially motivating factors leading to Appellant's termination, creating a genuine issue of material fact. Based on all the evidence offered by Appellant and the inconsistent reasons offered by Microsoft, holding that reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion in this case is clear error.

a. Appellant presented sufficient evidence of age being a substantial factor pertaining to Appellant's termination.

Specifically, the trial court inappropriately ignored the fact that replacement by a younger employee creates a presumption of discriminatory intent. Bret Arsenault treated Ms. Simmons differently than similarly situated young employees, and that he was biased against Ms. Simmons. Almost immediately after terminating Ms. Simmons, Mr.

Arsenault replaced her with a much younger employee, Ms. Young, his only stated reason for doing so being previously articulated constructive criticism offered to Appellant in conjunction with otherwise overwhelmingly positive performance feedback. In order to decide the ultimate question whether Ms. Simmons' age and race played a role in Mr. Arsenault's decisions, a fact-finder must make credibility determinations and choose from multiple competing inferences, making summary judgment inappropriate where competing presumptions clearly exist.

In an age discrimination in employment claim under Washington law, "the employee's task at the summary judgment stage is limited to showing that a reasonable trier of fact could, but not necessarily would draw the inference that age was a "determining factor" in the decision. *DeLisle*, 57 Wn. App. 79 at 83-84. Subsequent Washington courts have replaced the "determining factor" standard articulated by the *Sellsted* court with the less onerous "substantial factor" in employment discrimination claims under Washington law. *See e.g. Scrivener v. Clark College*, 181 Wn.2nd 439, 445, 334 P.3d (2014).

Therefore, the ultimate question in an employment discrimination case is motive. See Johnson v. Dep't of Social and Health Serv's, 80 Wn.App. 212, 907 P.2d 1223 (1996); Sellsted, 69 Wn.App. 852 at 860. "This issue of the defendant's intent at the time of [its decision] is clearly a

factual question." Sellsted, 69 Wn.App.852 at 863 (quoting Chippolini v. Spencer Gifts, Inc., 814 F.2d 893 (3d Cir. 1987)). By pointing to evidence which calls into question the defendant's intent, the plaintiff raises an issue of material fact which, if genuine, is sufficient to preclude summary judgment. Id. Ms. Simmons' firing and immediate replacement by a much younger employee, in light of the overwhelmingly positive reviews of her performance, does not render general constructive criticism proffered by her employer sufficient to substantiate his overwhelmingly negative final reviews sufficient to depict a pattern of warnings leading to a sound decision to terminate employment without pretext.

Because employers rarely admit or "openly reveal" an unlawful motive for their employment decisions, discrimination cases ordinarily must be decided by weighing credibility of witnesses and drawing from competing inferences based on circumstantial evidence. See Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic, P.S., 114 Wn. App. 611, 621, 60 P.3d 106 (2006). For this reason, "summary judgment should rarely be granted in employment discrimination cases." Johnson, 80 Wn.App. at 226 (citing DeLisle v. FMC Corp., 57 Wn.App. 79, 84, 786 P.2d 839 (1990)). As a general matter, the Plaintiff in an employment discrimination action need produce very little evidence in order to overcome an employer's motion for summary judgment. Chuang v. Univ. of Cal. Davis, Bd. Of Trs., 225 F. 3d 1115, 1124

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