**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

MARNIE L. SIMMONS,
Appellant,

v.

MICROSOFT CORPORATION,
Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kenneth J. Diamond, WSBA #27009
Vanessa B. Chambers, WSBA #42950
WINTERBAUER & DIAMOND PLLC
1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700
Seattle, WA 98101
Ph. (206) 676-8440
Attorneys for Respondent
Microsoft Corporation

2015 FEB 29 PM 4: 54
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I
STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Ms. Simmons' Burden on Summary Judgment

The sole issue on appeal is whether the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Microsoft. This Court reviews such orders de novo. Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 909, 922, 296 P.3d 860 (2013). As explained below, the decision to grant summary judgment was entirely proper. Indeed, if ever there was a case where summary judgment is appropriate, this is it. The trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

Summary judgment shall be granted "if the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions on file demonstrate the absence of any genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Sheehan v. Cent. Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth., 155 Wn.2d 790, 797, 123 P.3d 88 (2005); CR 56(c). The opposing party must go beyond the pleadings and designate specific facts to show that there is a genuine issue for trial. White v. State, 131 Wn.2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997). Speculation and conjecture are not enough. See, e.g., Overton v. Consol. Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 430-31, 38 P.3d 322 (2002) ("Ultimate facts or conclusions of fact are insufficient. Likewise,

conclusory statements of facts will not suffice.”); Heath v. Uruga, 106 Wn. App. 506, 513, 24 P.3d 413 (2001) (“The nonmoving party may not rely on speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain, or having its affidavits accepted at face value.”). If the nonmovant “fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial, then the [] court should grant the motion.” Young v. Key Pharma., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989).

B. The Burden Shifting Analysis

Discrimination claims like the ones presented here are analyzed pursuant to the “shifting burdens” analysis originally set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973). Fulton v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Serv., 169 Wn. App. 137, 148-150, 279 P.3d 500 (2012); Becker v. Cashman, 128 Wn. App. 79, 85-86, 114 P.3d 1210 (2005). A major purpose of the analysis is to “identify meritless suits and to stop them short of full trial.” Douglas v. Anderson, 656 F.2d 528, 535 (9th Cir. 1981).¹

To initiate the burden shifting analysis, Ms. Simmons must first prove: (i) she is in a protected class regarding age (i.e., 40 or older) and

¹ Washington courts look to federal discrimination law in interpreting the WLAD. Clarke v. Shoreline Sch. Dist. 106 Wn.2d 102, 118, 720 P.2d 793 (1986).

race (i.e., of Pacific Islander descent); (ii) her employment was terminated; (iii) she was performing satisfactorily at the time; and (iv) she was replaced by someone significantly younger or not of Pacific Islander ancestry. Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 188, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec., 157 Wn.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006) (age); Milligan v. Thompson, 110 Wn. App. 628, 636, 42 P.3d 418 (2002) (race).

If Ms. Simmons can establish a prima facie case, the burden of production, not persuasion, then shifts to Microsoft to present evidence that Ms. Simmons' employment was terminated for a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason. Fulton, 169 Wn. App. at 149. Significantly, Microsoft's "burden is satisfied if [it] simply explains what [it] has done or produces evidence of legitimate non-discriminatory reasons." Texas Dept. of Comm. Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 256 (1981), quoting Bd. of Trustees v. Sweeney, 439 U.S. 24, 25 n.2 (1978).

The burden of persuasion, not production, then reverts to Ms. Simmons. Fulton, 169 Wn. App. at 149; Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, 110 Wn.2d 355, 363, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). To survive dismissal, she must present specific, admissible evidence beyond that presented in her prima facie case upon which a jury could reasonably conclude the stated reason for her discharge is unworthy of belief and instead a pretext

for unlawful discrimination. Becker, 128 Wn. App. at 86; Griffith v. Schnitzer Steel Indus., 128 Wn. App. 438, 456, 115 P.3d 1065 (2005) (summary judgment granted and affirmed where replacement was younger than plaintiff); Stout v. Yakima Hma, Inc., 2013 U.S. LEXIS 20275 at *25 (E.D. Wash. 2013), citing Griffith, supra, at 454 (“Washington case law explicitly states that a plaintiff ‘cannot rely on simply presenting a prima facie case of discrimination and rebutting the justifications proffered for [her] termination.’”). In other words, she must show Mr. Arsenault was motivated not by the concerns identified above but rather by animus towards her because she was 43 years old and/or because of her Pacific Islander heritage.

Contrary to Ms. Simmons’ contention (Appellant’s Brief (“AB”) at 8), courts routinely grant summary judgment in employment discrimination cases where, as here, there is no genuine issue of material fact evidencing pretext.² This is especially so in this case because, while

² See, e.g., Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp., 145 Wn.2d 233, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001) (summary judgment affirmed on all claims, including disability discrimination); Fulton, supra, 169 Wn. App. 137 (summary judgment of gender claim affirmed); Crownover v. Dep’t of Transp., 165 Wn. App. 131, 265 P.3d 971 (2011) (summary judgment of retaliation and hostile work environment claims affirmed); Becker, supra, 128 Wn. App. 79 (summary judgment affirmed as to accommodation and disability discrimination claims); Kirby v. City of Tacoma, 124 Wn. App. 454, 98 P.3d 827 (2004) (summary judgment of disability discrimination claim affirmed); Domingo v. BECU, 124 Wn. App. 71, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004) (summary judgment affirmed as to race, national origin, gender, and age claims); Kirst v. Grays Harbor Cmty. Hosp., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9355 (W.D. Wash.) (summary judgment of accommodation, discrimination, and retaliation claims granted); Goodson v. Triumph Composite Sys., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 169566 (E.D. Wash.) (summary judgment granted as to disability discrimination, accommodation, and

Ms. Simmons' claims fail under any standard, she faces an especially difficult burden since the person (Mr. Arsenault) who hired her in May 2011 is the same person who terminated her employment in February 2013. "When someone is both hired and fired by the same decision makers within a relatively short period of time, there is a strong inference that he or she was *not* discharged because of any attribute the decision makers were aware of at the time of hiring." Hill, *supra*, 144 Wn.2d at 189-90.³ This same actor inference can only be defeated by an "extraordinarily strong showing of discrimination." Stout, 2013 U.S. LEXIS 20275 at *23, quoting Coghlan v. Am. Seafoods Co., LLC, 413 F.3d 1090, 1097 (9th Cir. 2005) (explaining that "rarely" is a plaintiff's evidence sufficient to overcome the same actor inference).

C. Microsoft Met Its Burden

Ms. Simmons cannot meet the third prong of her prima facie case because, as explained above, she was not performing her job satisfactorily. Regardless, Microsoft plainly had a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for the termination decision, i.e., poor performance. Significantly, Ms.

retaliation); and other cases cited herein.

³ In Hill, the Supreme Court further stated, "For a plaintiff to prevail under such circumstances, the evidence must answer an obvious question: if the employer is opposed to employing persons with a certain attribute, why would the employer have hired such a person in the first place?" *Id.* See also, e.g., Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 172 Wn. App. 835, 853, 292 P.3d 779 (2013) ("Washington courts apply the same actor inference in WLAD discrimination claims.").

Simmons does not dispute that Microsoft presented a reason for her separation. AB at 11. This admission should end the discussion and shift the burden back to Ms. Simmons. See, e.g., Texas Dept. of Comm. Affairs, supra, 450 U.S. at 256. Instead, however, she attacks Microsoft's proffered reason and the notion she had any performance issues at all. See, e.g., AB at 3-6, 11-12. By making this argument, Ms. Simmons is conflating Microsoft's burden of production to present a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for termination with her burden of persuasion to establish the reason given is pretextual. In other words, it is not Microsoft's job to persuade the Court that the reason for termination is *not* merely a pretext, but rather it is Ms. Simmons' burden to persuade the Court that it *is*. As explained below, she falls far short of meeting her burden.

D. Ms. Simmons Cannot Establish Pretext or Create a Triable Issue of Material Fact

Given Microsoft plainly met its burden, Ms. Simmons' real challenge in surviving summary judgment comes at the pretext stage of the burden-shifting analysis. The WLAD is an anti-discrimination statute. Accordingly, she must produce evidence sufficient to create a reasonable inference that race or age discrimination was a substantial factor motivating Mr. Arsenault's termination decision and, in this case, also

overcome the same actor inference (Hill at 189-90). In an attempt to do so, Ms. Simmons makes one argument that applies both to her age and race claims (i.e., that she did not have performance issues), one argument specific to her age claim (i.e., she was replaced by a younger employee (Ms. Young)), and one argument specific to her race claim (i.e., Mr. Arsenault's alleged "real Kahuna" comment indicates racial animus motivating his termination decision). All three of these arguments fail under the relevant facts and law. None presents a genuine issue of material fact that Mr. Arsenault's stated legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for termination was instead a pretext for unlawful discrimination based on animus towards Ms. Simmons because of her age and/or race.

1. Ms. Simmons' Performance Issues

Ms. Simmons challenges on three separate bases the notion she had performance issues. Each is factually incorrect, legally irrelevant, and falls far short of establishing pretext.

First, Ms. Simmons claims the termination of her employment was unexpected (and unlawful) given her "overwhelmingly positive" performance reviews and absence of negative feedback.⁴ AB at 3-4, 11-

⁴ Ms. Simmons also vaguely alleges Mr. Arsenault "judged" her performance differently than that of younger or non-Pacific Islander employees. AB 16. This argument should be stricken as there is nothing in the record about how Mr. Arsenault evaluated the performance of other employees, none of whom was similarly situated to her in any event.

12. This argument ignores reality and does not withstand even the mildest scrutiny. Mr. Arsenault could not have been clearer with Ms. Simmons as to her ongoing performance issues and looming termination. She may not have liked his evaluation of her performance, but her opinion is legally irrelevant, as a plaintiff's "disagreement with her supervisor's assessment of her job performance does not demonstrate pretext or give rise to a reasonable inference of discrimination."⁵

Microsoft does not dispute Ms. Simmons had strengths and performed certain aspects of her job well. That does not negate the undisputed performance issues which eventually formed the basis for Mr. Arsenault's termination decision. The record reflects that even before Ms. Simmons took the job as Mr. Arsenault's EA, she had problems communicating and collaborating with others in the manner expected of administrative support personnel. In 2009 and 2010, Ms. Simmons' manager, Ms. Ho, noted Ms. Simmons' interpersonal and communication skills issues and urged her to improve in these critical areas. In her March 2011 interviews for Mr. Arsenault's EA position, concerns were identified and expressed regarding these same issues. While recognizing these

⁵ Fulton, *supra*, 169 Wn. App. at 162. See also, e.g., Griffith, *supra*, 128 Wn. App. at 447, ("employee's subjective beliefs and assessments as to his performance are irrelevant" to show pretext); Chen v. State, 86 Wn. App. 183, 191, 937 P.2d 612 (1997) ("An employee's assertion of good performance to contradict the employer's assertion of poor performance does not give rise to a reasonable inference of discrimination.").

concerns, Mr. Arsenault gave Ms. Simmons the benefit of the doubt and hired her for the role. Ms. Simmons' job was to support Mr. Arsenault and enable him to be more efficient and effective in his executive role. CP 43 at 13-25; CP 44-48; CP 49 at 1-22. Yet she continued to struggle with her interpersonal, communication, and collaboration skills and had ongoing conflicts with the group's Business Manager (Mr. Sexsmith) and others.

Despite extensive feedback, coaching, and counseling, Ms. Simmons refused to take ownership of these issues and instead continually placed the blame elsewhere. Even now she continues to shirk accountability. She totally ignores, for example, the numerous performance-related emails among Mr. Arsenault, Mr. Sexsmith, human resources, and her beginning in January 2012 and continuing through the termination of her February 2013 employment. She also glosses over Mr. Arsenault's comment in her 2012 check-in that her direct approach had a negative impact on the team and she needed to demonstrate and sustain improvement in that area. Finally, she ignores the fact she received a "5" performance rating (the lowest score available), which was a clear warning her job might be in jeopardy, a full five months before her employment was terminated.

Ultimately, after 21 months, Mr. Arsenault concluded he needed to make a change and that termination of Ms. Simmons' employment was appropriate. CP 237 at ¶ 30. To claim she was surprised by his decision is either disingenuous or another example of the lack of interpersonal awareness so thoroughly documented in the record. Regardless, again, Ms. Simmons was an at-will employee,⁶ and courts are not supposed to second-guess the wisdom of an employer's personnel decisions.⁷

Second, Ms. Simmons tries to demonstrate pretext by contending Microsoft has provided inconsistent reasons for her separation. AB at 12-13. This, too, is incorrect. There is no genuine mystery here, especially since Mr. Arsenault provided Ms. Simmons with repeated written notice of his concerns and opportunities to improve. Further, the reasons given have always focused on aspects of Ms. Simmons' performance and its impact on the business, particularly her communication style and difficulty working with others.

⁶ Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Inc., 165 Wn.2d 200, 207, 193 P.3d 128 (2008) (may be fired for any reason); Cole v. Red Lion, 92 Wn. App. 743, 750, 969 P.2d 481 (1998) (may be fired for any or no reason).

⁷ See, e.g., Gatewood v. Columbia Pub. Sch. Dist., 415 F.Supp.2d 983, 1003 (8th Cir. 2006), citing Henderson v. Ford Motor Co., 403 F.3d 1026, 1034 (8th Cir. 2005) (courts do not have "authority to sit as super-personnel departments reviewing the wisdom or fairness of the business judgments made by employers, except to the extent that those judgments involve intentional discrimination.").

Third, Ms. Simmons points to positive comments about her performance (e.g., from the Kudos Award and 360 review, i.e., anonymous comments from employees she asked to participate) from persons other than Mr. Arsenault. AB at 6. This argument also fails as a matter of law. Simply put, co-workers' opinions of Ms. Simmons' performance are legally irrelevant.⁸ Mr. Arsenault was her supervisor and it is his view that matters. In addition to being immaterial, the 360 Review and Kudos award are also inadmissible hearsay.⁹

2. Ms. Simmons' Replacement by a Younger Employee Does Not Create a Triable Issue of Material Fact

Against this backdrop, Ms. Simmons' attempt to create a material issue of fact specific to her age claim fails as a matter of law. As a preliminary matter, it is undisputed Mr. Arsenault did not know Ms. Simmons' age (CP 238 at ¶ 35), and she admits there is nothing Mr. Arsenault said or did to suggest any age bias toward her. CP 21 at 13-25; CP 22 at 1-7; CP 28 at 9-11. Moreover, her heightened burden based on

⁸ See, e.g., Lee v. State of Minn. Dep't of Commerce, 157 F.3d 1130, 1135 (8th Cir. 1998) (personal opinions by non-decisionmakers do not support reasonable inference of discrimination); Johnson v. Gen. Bd. of Pension & Health Benefits of the United Methodist Church, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 24918 at *22-23 (N.D. Ill.) (and cases cited therein) (former coworkers' personal opinions irrelevant); McKinley v. Skyline Chili, Inc., 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114020 at *17-18 (S.D. Ohio) (and cases cited therein) (former coworkers' personal opinions do not create genuine issue of material fact or establish pretext).

⁹ Ebel v. Fairwood Park II Homeowners' Assoc., 136 Wn. App. 787, 792, 150 P.3d 1163 (2007).

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